ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 20 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER ERIC MEJEAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001282

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court erred reversibly in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal on the charges of attempted murder where the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had the specific intent to kill Tee Smith, Regina Smith, or their daughter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 18, 2013, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Christopher Mejean for three counts of attempted murder. R. 238 - 243.

On June 2-4, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly and a jury. Timothy Sullivan represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor Kris Hodge represented the State.

The jury found Appellant guilty of two counts of assault and battery in the first degree and one count of attempted murder. R. 226, 1. 6 - 227, 1. 13. The trial court sentenced Appellant to fifteen years imprisonment for attempted murder and two terms of ten years imprisonment for the two counts of assault and battery in the first degree. R. 237, 1. 20 - 237, 1. 8. All sentences were ordered to be served concurrently. *Id.*

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Relevant Facts

On the night of July 1, 2012, Tee Smith his wife, Regina, were asleep in the bedroom of their trailer outside of Pelzer in Greenville County. R. 58, l. 14 - 60, l. 25. At around ten thirty that night, Regina woke up after hearing a loud noise outside. R. 71, l. 13 - 73, l. 11. She then woke up her husband. Tee Smith initially believed that an on-going thunderstorm had simply made his wife nervous. R. 58, l. 14 - 60, l. 25. However, seconds after he woke up, the Smiths hear another loud booming sound. *Id.*

Wooden splinters from the trailer's wall then exploded on to their bed and a nearby picture fell off the wall. Tee Smith then ran into the trailer's living room and saw wood splinters all over the floor in that room as well. *Id.* Fearing that someone was shooting into his trailer, Smith ushered Regina and their daughter into a bathroom and retrieved his pistol. *Id.*

Once in the bathroom, Regina called the police and then called her neighbor, Melissa Mejean. *Id.* Melissa answered the phone and stated that she was at her cousin's house, but that Appellant, her husband might be home. R. 88, l. 11 - 89, l. 23. Smith, armed with the pistol, cracked the front door of his trailer and fired a warning shot into the air. After again checking on his family, Smith left the trailer to assess the damage. R. 59, ll. 8-16. Through the heavy rain and poorly lit rural yard, Smith saw Appellant walking out of his trailer. R. 60, ll. 12-21.

Appellant was walking towards an adjacent storage shed. At trial, Smith claimed that Appellant had "something long" in his hands, "it reminded me of a shotgun." R. 61, l. 23-25. Smith then told Appellant that his trailer had been shot and asked Appellant if he had shot into his trailer. *Id.* Appellant responded, "where my mother fucking bitch at?" R. 60, ll. 12-16. At

his wife's urging, Smith returned to his trailer and waited for the Greenville County Sheriff's deputies to arrive. *Id.* at ll. 17-25.

Approximately hour later, sheriff deputies arrived at the Smith residence. Appellant was not home. R. 64, l. 20 - 65, l. 4. At law enforcement's request, Melissa Mejean returned home and gave police permission to search their trailer. R. 89, l. 6 - 91, l. 16. Melissa explained to police that she did not know where Appellant was and that she had unsuccessfully attempted to contact him after speaking with Regina Smith. *Id.* Melissa also reported to the police that a rifle and shotgun were missing from their trailer. R. 91, l. 4 - 92, l. 20.

Inside the trailer, police found the residence in complete disarray. R. 131, ll. 4-22. While searching, law enforcement found an empty shotgun case and several boxes of shotgun and rifle ammunition. R. 133, l. 18 - 134, l. 18. A search of the yard between Appellant's trailer and the Smith trailer, uncovered three spent shotgun shells matching the brand and type of the boxes found in Appellant's trailer. *Id.*

However, because of the heavy rains, it was impossible for police to determine how long the empty casings had been on the ground. R. 113, l. 1 - 121, l. 5. Appellant returned to his trailer the next morning and was placed under arrest by Sheriff's deputies. R. 164, l. 20-23.

Trial

Both Tee and Regina Smith testified at trial, as did Appellant and Melissa Mejean. Each one testified that their families were friends at the time of the incident and that there was no conceivable reason for Appellant to want to kill any of the Smiths. R. 55, ll. 12-24; R. 66, ll. 1-11; R. 83, l. 22 - 84, l. 24.

Their children regularly played together. Tee Smith and Appellant had hunted together. The families had celebrated Easter together. R. 79, ll. 7-16. Both sets of parents babysat the

others' children on occasion. In fact on the day of the incident, Melissa had taken the Smith's daughter with her to go swimming at Appellant's mother's house. R. 84, ll. 5-24. Melissa Mejean also testified that her family's trailer had gunshot holes above the back door. R. 95, ll. 6-16.

At the close of State's evidence, Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that the State had failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had the specific intent to kill any of the Smiths. R. 143, l. 24 - 144, l. 7. The defense also noted that the State had not put forth any evidence suggesting that Appellant was aware that the Smiths were home at the time of the incident or that Appellant had deliberately targeted them. *Id.*

The State countered that the specific intent to kill could be inferred by Appellant using a shotgun, "why would someone fire shotgun slugs into the home of another person if they didn't intend to kill that person?" R. 144, ll. 9-18. Without elaborating on its reasoning, the trial court summarily denied the motion. Defense counsel did not renew the motion for a directed verdict after Appellant's testimony. R. 179, l. 6 - 181, l. 7.

Appellant testified that, on the night of the incident, he returned home from a friend's house to find a man he knew as "Frog" burglarizing his residence. R. 159, l. 12 - 161, l. 23. Appellant stated that he used to buy marijuana from Frog, but stopped when Frog began "messaging around with other drugs." *Id.*

When Appellant confronted Frog, Frog armed himself with Appellant's shotgun and ran out of the trailer. Frog fired several shots at Appellant as he escaped through their yard. Appellant gave chase, but was briefly held up when Tee Smith questioned him. *Id.*

Appellant testified that he called his shotgun “my fucking bitch.” R. 162, ll. 4-24. Preoccupied with catching Frog, Appellant brushed off Smith and continued pursuit. R. 163, ll. 2-16. Appellant was unable to locate Frog after several hours of searching and returned home to discover that the police were looking for him. R. 164, ll. 5-24.

Despite Tee Smith lying in bed next to his wife when one of the shots entered their bedroom, the jury found Appellant guilty only of the attempted murder of Regina Smith. The jury convicted Appellant of the lesser included offenses of assault and battery in the first degree with respect to Tee Smith and the Smith’s daughter. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred reversibly in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal where the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had the specific intent to kill Tee Smith, Regina Smith, or their daughter.

The State put forward no evidence tending to show that Appellant had the specific intent to kill the Smith family. During their testimony, Tee and Regina Smith described their friendship with Appellant and his family. R. 68, l. 20 - 69, l. 11. Beyond the State's allegation that Appellant had shot into the Smith's trailer, the State put forward no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had the specific intent to kill necessary to sustain an attempted murder charge. R. 144, ll. 9-18.

Directed Verdict

The accused is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to present evidence to support every element of the charged offense. *See State v. Brown*, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004); *see also State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011). When the State fails to produce *substantial circumstantial evidence* that the defendant committed a particular crime, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict." *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011) (*emphasis added*).

The trial court "should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence *merely raises a suspicion* that the accused is guilty." *Id.* at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50 (*emphasis added*) (citation omitted). "Suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof." *See State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 322, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404-05 (2001) (citing *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 541 S.E.2d 254 (2001)).

Specific Intent to Kill

Attempted murder, as defined by statute, requires a specific intent to kill: “[a] person who, *with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person* with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (*emphasis added*); see *State v. King*, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189, 191-193 (2015) ([I]legislature intended the State to prove specific intent to commit murder as an element of attempted murder).

Prior to the passage of statutory attempted murder in 2010, the South Carolina recognized the crime of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABIK) when the defendant was accused of “an unlawful act of a violent nature to the person of another with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” *State v. Wilds*, 355 S.C. 269, 584 S.E.2d 138 (Ct. App. 2003). ABIK comprised all of the elements of murder except the death of the victim. *State v. Foust*, 325 S.C. 12, 14, 479 S.E.2d 50, 51 (1996).

ABIK only required a “general intent to kill, which the jury may infer from the use of a dangerous or deadly weapon.” *State v. Dennis*, 402 S.C. 627, 638, 742 S.E.2d 21, 27-28 (Ct. App. 2013). By comparison the South Carolina Supreme, while declining to recognize the offense of attempted murder in common law, noted that an attempt to commit murder requires a specific intent to kill:

In the context of an “attempt” crime, specific intent means that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts comprising the choate offense. In other words, the completion of such acts is the defendant's purpose. . . . *Attempted murder would require the specific intent to kill and conduct towards that end.*

State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000) (footnote omitted) (*emphasis added*).

The commission of an act that creates a probability of death or great bodily injury does not, without more, necessarily allow the inference that the actor had the intent to kill. See Wharton's Criminal Law Attempt §§ 694-695 (1996) (“to constitute an attempt, there must be an intent to commit a particular crime”).¹ As attempted murder is a specific intent crime, to survive a directed verdict the State must present direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had the specific intent “to effect the particular criminal consequence which constitutes the completed crime.” *Id.* In sum, Appellant had to have the specific intent to kill the Smiths, and evidence that he was acting with reckless disregard for other people’s lives was not sufficient.

In opposing the directed verdict motion, the State argued that the use of the shotgun evidenced the intent to kill, this contention misconstrues the evidentiary inference that may be drawn by the use of a deadly weapon. R. 144, ll. 9-18. Appellant’s use of the shotgun may infer malice, “a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others, or a condition of the

¹ Requiring a specific intent to kill precludes a defendant from being guilty of attempted manslaughter as it would require “proof that a defendant *intended* to perpetrate an *unintentional* killing—which is logically impossible.” *Com. v. Griffin*, 456 A.2d 171 (Pa. Sup. Ct. 1983)(*emphasis original*).

“Some crimes, such as murder, are defined in terms of acts causing a particular result plus some mental state which need not be an intent to bring about that result. Thus, if A, B, and C have each taken the life of another, *A acting with intent to kill, B with an intent to do serious bodily injury, and C with a reckless disregard of human life, all three are guilty of murder because the crime of murder is defined in such a way that any one of these mental states will suffice. However, if the victims do not die from their injuries, then only A is guilty of attempted murder; on a charge of attempted murder it is not sufficient to show that the defendant intended to do serious bodily harm or that he acted in reckless disregard for human life.* Again, this is because intent is needed for the crime of attempt, so that attempted murder requires an intent to bring about that result described by the crime of murder (*i.e.*, the death of another).” *Id.* at 177 *citing*: LaFave and Scott, *Handbook on Criminal Law*, § 59 at 428–29 (1972) (footnotes omitted) (*emphasis added*).

mind which shows a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent on mischief.” *State v. Heyward*, 197 S. C. 371, 15 S. E. 2d 669 (1941).

However, the use of a deadly weapon cannot sustain an attempted murder charge without proof of some conduct on the part of the defendant or other circumstances indicating an actual, specific intent to bring about the death of a particular person. LaFave and Scott, *Handbook on Criminal Law*, § 59 at 428–29 (1972) (footnotes omitted); *cf. Foust*, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (in charging the law of ABIK, court should instruct jurors that “intent may be shown by acts and conduct from which a jury may naturally and reasonably infer intent.”); *see also Dennis*, 402 S.C. 638-639, 742 S.E.2d at 27-28.

Appellant, at most, acted with reckless disregard of human life. There was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence tending to show that Appellant, either by his conduct or the circumstances of the incident, specifically intended to murder the Smiths. There was no testimony that Appellant knew the Smiths were home at the time of the incident. Similarly, there was no testimony or evidence that Appellant bore any ill will or hatred for the Smith family. R. 66, ll. 1-11.

The lack of evidence that Appellant had the specific intent to kill the Smiths was partially reflected in the verdict. The jury found Appellant guilty of assault and battery in the first degree with respect to Tee Smith and the Smith’s daughter. R. 226, l. 11 - 227, l. 13; S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C). Yet, inexplicably, the jury found Appellant guilty of the attempted murder of Regina Smith, despite her being identically situated to her daughter and her husband. R. 226, l. 11 - 227, l. 13.


The evidence relied upon by the State does not amount to substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove Appellant’s guilt, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. *See Bostick*, 392 S.C. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. Accordingly, the trial court

erred reversibly in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal where the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had the specific intent to kill Tee Smith, Regina Smith, or their daughter.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, Appellant Christopher Mejean respectfully requests that this Court issue an Order of Acquittal on his conviction for attempted murder.