ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

OCT 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2015-001282

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER ERIC MEJEAN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

205 E. North Street, Ste. 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because there was direct and substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could find Appellant intended to commit murder, or acted with reckless disregard for human life when he fired shots into an occupied residence at night.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 18, 2013, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Christopher Mejean on three counts of attempted murder arising from an incident on July 2, 2012, when multiple shotgun blasts were fired into an occupied dwelling with three people inside. The matter was called for a jury trial on June 2, 2015, before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge.

Tee Smith testified he, and his wife and their daughter lived at a trailer park in Pelzer, South Carolina. Appellant and his family moved next door a couple of years after the Smiths moved there, and the families became friends. Mr. Smith stated he hung out with Appellant almost every day, their wives became friends, and their children played together. (TT, pp. 51-56; R. pp. 51-56)

Mr. Smith and his wife worked at the same grocery store, and on July 1, 2013, his wife worked the morning shift, and he worked the evening shift until 8:00 p.m. Their daughter went over to Appellant's trailer until Mrs. Smith got home. Mrs. Smith and their daughter were home when Mr. Smith got home from work, and after eating dinner, they all went to bed. (TT. pp. 56-58; R. pp. 56-58)

Later that night, the Smiths woke up when shots were fired into their trailer. Mr. Smith testified he saw bullet marks on the walls, and he had wood all over his head. When he and his wife checked the remaining rooms, they found evidence of gun shots in the kitchen and in the living room where their daughter slept. Mr. Smith got his gun, went outside and fired two warning shots into the air, and when he came back inside, he told his wife to call 911. (TT. pp. 58-59; R. pp. 58-59)

While they waited for authorities to arrive, Mrs. Smith called Appellant's wife because she was worried about the family. Mr. Smith went back outside and saw Appellant coming out of his house and going toward his shed. Appellant then approached Mr. Smith, who asked him if he had shot up the Smith home. Appellant replied: "where's my f**king bitch." Mr. Smith saw something long in Appellant's hand, which Appellant was holding down by his side. Mr. Smith testified it reminded him of a shotgun, and he knew Appellant had one. He also testified Appellant's truck was not there. (TT. pp. 63-66; R. pp. 63-66)

Mr. Smith stated Appellant was enraged and yelling at him when Mr. Smith asked if he shot at the Smith home, Appellant never asked Mr. Smith what had happened, and showed no concern about the fact someone had shot the Smith home. He further stated Appellant had been inside the Smith home and knew the lay-out.

Mrs. Smith testified she and her daughter went swimming with Appellant and his family the afternoon of July 1, 2012, but about an hour later, Appellant decided he did not want to stay so he left to go to a friend's house. After a couple of hours, Appellant's wife called him to come pick her and the children up, but he refused. Mrs. Smith took Appellant's wife and children to Appellant's friend's house, and then she and her daughter went home. (TT. pp. 68-71; R. pp. 68-71)

Mrs. Smith fell asleep after eating dinner and woke up when she heard a loud noise. She woke Mr. Smith, and when they checked the rest of the residence, they realized someone had shot at the trailer. Mrs. Smith was concerned about Appellant's family and called Appellant's wife, who told her she and the children were not home. (TT. pp. 71-73; R. pp. 71-73)

Mrs. Smith testified Appellant and his wife had problems, and Appellant's wife actually moved out of the trailer and lived with her parents for a couple of weeks. She further testified Appellant had been to the Smith home and knew the lay-out. (TT. pp. 78-80; R. pp. 78-80)

Appellant's wife (Mrs. Mejean) confirmed Mrs. Smith's testimony about the events of that afternoon, as well as Mrs. Smith's telephone call to her that night. She stated Appellant was drinking, and they were arguing that evening, and she "decided that it was probably best for [her] just to let him cool off," so she went home and got some clothes for her and the children, and went to spend the night at her cousins. (TT. pp. 82-87; R. pp. 82-87)

At some point during the evening Mrs. Mejean received a call from the phone at their house, but all she could hear was "a bunch of muffled yelling." She subsequently received another call from their house and all she heard was "really loud" yelling before the line went dead. Approximately thirty minutes later, the police called and asked her to return home. When she went inside the home, it was "demolished," and one of Appellant's guns was missing. (TT. pp. 88-93; R. pp. 88-93)

A forensic investigator testified about the evidence recovered from the scene that night, and the photographs he took there. He found three shell casings in the Smith's front yard, and testified about the casings and shot patterns in the Smith trailer. One shot penetrated the bedroom wall above the Smith's heads. Another shot passed through a kitchen chair. A third shot penetrated the side of the livingroom wall and exited through the roof. (TT. pp. 100-137; State's Exhibits 8- 53; R. pp. 100-137)¹

Appellant moved for a directed verdict, arguing the State failed to present sufficient evidence he had a specific intent to murder the Smiths. The State argued the use of a deadly

¹ The photograph exhibits will be transported to the Court for consideration

weapon implied a specific intent to kill. The circuit court denied the motion. (TT. pp. 143-144; R. pp. 143-144)

Appellant testified that when he got home from his friend's house that night, his front door was partially open, and he found a man he previously purchased marijuana from inside holding one of Appellant's shotguns. After the man shot at him and ran out of the trailer, Appellant stated he chased the man, and when he asked Mr. Smith about his "f**king bitch," he was talking about his shotgun rather than his wife. On cross-examination, however, Appellant admitted he did not normally refer to his shotgun as his "f**king bitch," but he had "probably called [his wife] every name in the book. (TT. pp. 157-178; R. pp. 157-178)

The circuit court charged the jury on the law of general criminal intent, the elements of attempted murder, malice, express or implied malice aforethought, and the lesser included offenses of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and first degree assault and battery. (TT. pp. 205-210; R. pp. 205-210) The jury convicted Appellant of attempted murder as to Mrs. Smith, and first degree assault and battery Mr. Smith as to Mr. Smith and the minor daughter. (TT. pp 226-227; R. pp. 226-227). The court sentenced him to concurrent prison terms of fifteen years on the attempted murder conviction and ten years each on the assault and battery convictions. This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Appellant’s directed verdict motion because there was direct and substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could find Appellant intended to commit murder, or he acted with reckless disregard for human life when he fired shots into a occupied residence at night.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his directed verdict motion on the attempted murder charges because “the State put forward no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had the specific intent to kill necessary to sustain an attempted murder charge.” (Brief of Appellant, p, 9). Appellant’s argument presumes a specific intent to kill is mandated by the attempted murder statute.² It also ignores the fact the circuit court treated the attempted murder charge as a **specific** intent crime, and found the State had presented sufficient circumstantial evidence of intent to warrant submitting the case to the jury.

A. Standard of Review

“A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged.” State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). In reviewing a defendant's motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is only concerned with the existence of evidence, not with its weight. State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014) (citation omitted).

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, appellate courts must view the evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. *Id.* If there is either any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonable tending to prove the defendant's guilt, appellate courts must find that the trial judge properly

²The court and parties proceeded under the assumption attempted murder is a specific intent crime in this case, which is an unresolved issue in South Carolina at this point.

submitted the case to the jury. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004); *see also* State v. Larmand, 415 S.C. 23, 780 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2015); Walker, 349 S.C. at 53, 562 S.E.2d at 315 (“When a motion for a directed verdict is made in a criminal case where the State relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge is required to submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”) (citation omitted).

B. Evidence of Attempted Murder

In 2010, as part of an omnibus crime bill, the South Carolina Legislature enacted the attempted murder statute, and expressly abolished the common law offense of ABWIK. South Carolina Code §16-3-29 provides “[a] person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person **with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied**, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. Code §16-3-29 (2015) (emphasis added).

As a threshold matter, Appellant’s entire argument is premised on his contention attempted murder is a specific intent crime. To the contrary, the question of whether attempted murder under §16-3-29 is a general or specific intent crime is very much in debate. This Court held it was a specific intent crime in State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015), but the South Carolina Supreme Court granted the State’s petition for a writ of certiorari on that issue, and heard oral argument on September 7, 2016. If the Supreme Court reverses and holds attempted murder is a general intent crime, Appellant’s contention falls, particularly in light of concessions reflected in his brief to this Court.³

³ Appellant’s reliance on State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000) is misplaced. In Sutton, the Supreme Court discussed the common law crime of attempted murder, not the interpretation of a statute enacted in 2010, so Sutton does not apply. While common law “attempt” requires a specific intent to commit a particular crime, the legislature was not bound by the common law “attempt” definition.

Appellant concedes his “use of a shotgun may infer malice, ‘a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others, or a condition of the mind which shows a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent on mischief.’” Brief of Appellant, pp. 11-12 (*quoting State v. Heyward*, 197 S.C. 371, 15 S.E.2d 669 [1941]). He argues, however, an attempted murder charge requires **more** than an inference of malice; rather, he asserts the State must present evidence “of some conduct on the part of the defendant or other circumstances indicating an actual, specific intent to bring about the death of a particular person.” Brief of Appellant, p. 12. Appellant’s argument turns the concept of implied malice aforethought on its head, and essentially nullifies a significant portion of the attempted murder statute.

While the popular meaning of the term malice is hatred, ill-will, or hostility toward another, the legal meaning, as it relates to murder, does not necessarily require ill-will toward the victim. *Heyward*, 15 S.E.2d at 671. Thus, by logical extension, the law does not require ill-will toward the particular person a defendant injured, but did not kill. Indeed, as Appellant acknowledges, in comparing assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK) to murder, the courts of this state have traditionally concluded the primary difference between the two offenses is whether the victim dies (murder), or does not die (ABWIK), and a specific intent to kill is not required for either offense. *State v. Foust*, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50, 51/(1996) (a specific intent to kill is not required for murder, and the logical inference is specific intent is not required for ABWIK).

The attempted murder statute incorporates the ABWIK language “with intent to kill,” and “malice aforethought, either express or implied.” §16-3-29 (emphasis added).⁴ “[M]alice may be implied where the evidence reveals **a disregard of the consequences** of an injurious act,

⁴ The Legislature clearly intended to codify the common law ABWIK offense via § 16-3-29 because the statute uses the exact language of the abolished ABWIK offense.

without reference to any special injury that may be inflicted on another person.” Huffman v. Sunshine Recycling, LLC, ___ S.C. ___ 790 S.E. 2d 401, 410 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 368 S.C. 424, 629 S.E.2d 642, 649 [2006]) (emphasis added).

Appellant also concedes he “at most, acted with reckless disregard of human life,” but in the face of that concession, he argues the State failed to present direct or substantial circumstantial evidence tending to show he “specifically intended to murder the Smiths.” Brief of Appellant, p. 12. Again, whether specific intent is required for an attempted murder charge is an unresolved issue, but accepting Appellant’s argument essentially nullifies the “implied malice” portion of the attempted murder statute.

The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature, and the statutory language must be construed in light of the statute’s intended purpose. Florence Cty. Democratic Party v. Florence Cty. Republican Party, 398 S.C. 124, 727 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2012). The courts cannot construe a statute in a way which leads to an absurd result, or renders it meaningless. *Id.*; see also Hinton v. S.C. Dep't of Probation, Parole and Pardon Servs., 357 S.C. 327, 592 S.E.2d 335 (Ct.App.2004) (the Court should seek a construction giving effect to every word of a statute rather than adopting an interpretation that renders a portion meaningless).

If firing a shotgun into a dwelling multiple times in the middle of the night, which is **at a minimum** acting with reckless disregard for human life, is insufficient circumstantial evidence to warrant submitting an attempted murder case to the jury, it is difficult to imagine what evidence would suffice to show implied malice aforethought. Interpreting the attempted murder statute to require more renders the implied malice portion of the statute meaningless.

Finally, there was ample evidence in addition to the use of a deadly weapon from which the jury could find Appellant acted with both specific and general criminal intent. Mrs. Mejean testified Appellant was drinking and they were arguing that day, to the extent she felt it necessary to stay at her cousin's home and give Appellant an opportunity to "cool off." Appellant knew Mrs. Smith had been with his wife that afternoon. When he returned home to find his wife and children were not there, it is certainly inferable he believed Mrs. Smith had helped hide his family from him, and went into a rage with the Smiths right next door. After the shooting and being confronted by Mr. Smith, the Appellant fled the scene and evaded authorities until the next day, which can also lead to a inference of guilty intent. Smalls v. State, 415 S.C. 490, 783 S.E.2d 817, 823 (Ct. App. 2016) (flight has long been considered some evidence of guilt).

Even assuming attempted murder is a specific intent crime, which the State strenuously disputes, there was sufficient direct and circumstantial evidence in this case to support the circuit court's denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion. Accordingly, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion, and its ruling should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION